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Independent Auditor’s Report

To the Shareholders of
Tamdeen Real Estate Company — KPSC
Kuwait

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Tamdeen Real Estate Company — Kuwaiti Public
Shareholding Company (the “Parent Company™) and Subsidiaries, (collectively the “Group”), which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023, and the consolidated statement of
profit or loss, consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement
of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present faitly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2023, and its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRSs).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants ((including
International Independence Standards) (“IESBA Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Mattets :

Key audit mattets are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the curtrent year. These matters were addressed in the context of
our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our professional opinion thereon,
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each key audit matter below, our description
of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

Valuation of Investment Properties

The Group’s investment propetties represent significant patt of the total assets. The valuation of investment
properties is a judgement area requiring number of assumptions including capitalization yields, estimated rental
and hotel revenue, occupancy rates, historical transactions, BOT contract periods & conditions, rights of use
contract periods and renewability. The Group’s policy is that property valuations are performed at year end by
independent valuets, who are non-related to the Group, and they are licensed valuers and have the required
qualifications and experiences. Given the fact that the fair values of the investment properties represent a
significant judgment area and the valuations are highly dependent on estimates, we determined this to be a key
audit matter. Refer to Notes (4.13, 15 and 29.4) for more information on investment propetties.
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Independent auditor’s report to the Shareholders of
Tamdeen Real Estate Company — KPSC (continued)

Key Audit Matters (continued)

Valuation of Investment Properties (continued)

Our audit procedures included, among others, assessing the appropriateness of the methods and means of
evaluation and inputs used in the evaluation. We reviewed the valuation reports from the external valuers and
agreed them to the carrying value of the investment properties. We also assessed the appropriateness of the
valuation methodologies used in assessing the fair value of the investment properties. Furthermore, we assessed
that the property related data used as input for the external valuations is consistent with the information
obtained during our audit.

Impairment of investments in associates

The Group’s investments in associates represent significant part of any the total assets and are accounted for
under the equity method of accounting and considered for impairment in case of any indications of impairment.
Significant management judgment and number of assumptions are required in the assessment of impairment,
including the determination of the recoverable value of the investment based on higher of fair value less costs
to sell and its value-in-use, in case there is a significant ot prolonged decline in value based on published price
quotes. Further, the projected future cash flows and discount rates used by the Group in determining the
investment’s value in use are also subject to estimation uncertainty and sensitivity. Accordingly, we considered
this as a key audit matter. Refer to Notes (4.5, 5.2.3 and 16) for more information on investments in associates.

Out audit procedures included, among othets, evaluating management’s consideration of the impairment
indicators of investment in associates. In evaluating such consideration, we assessed whether any significant or
prolonged decline in value exists, whether there are any significant adverse changes in the technological market,
economic or legal environment in which the associate operates, or structural changes in the field of industry in
which the investee company operates, or changes in the political or legal environment effecting the investees
business, and also whether there are any changes in the investee’s financial condition. We also reviewed
management’s assessment of the recoverable value of the investment including the reasonability of the cash
flow projections and discount rates used in the value in use calculation for associates, where there was a
significant or prolonged decline in value, and the appropriateness of the disclosures made in the consolidated
financial statements.

Other information included in the Group’s 2023 Annual Report

Management is responsible for the other information. Other information consists of the information included
in the Group’s 2023 Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon. We obtained the report of the Parent Company’s Board of Directors, prior to the date of our auditor’s
report and we expect to obtain the remaining sections of the Group’s Annual Report after the date of our

auditor’s report.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not

express any form of assurance thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our tesponsibility is to read the other
information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be

materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have petformed, on the other information that we have obtained prior to the date of
this auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required

to teport that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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Independent auditor’s report to the Shareholders of
Tamdeen Real Estate Company — KPSC (continued)

Responsibilities of Management and those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements
in accordance with IFRSs, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the
pteparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or etror.

In prepating the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations,
or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a
whole are free from matetial misstatement, whether due to fraud ot etror, and to issue an auditot’s report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a matetial misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exetcise professional judgment and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o Identfy and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or etrot, design and petform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o+ Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control.

o Ewvaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by management.

+ Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Out
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future
events ot conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concetn.

+ Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
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Independent auditor’s report to the Shareholders of
Tamdeen Real Estate Company — KPSC (continued)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely responsible
for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were
of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the cutrent year and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not
be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected
to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

Furthermore, in our opinion, proper books of account have been kept by the Parent Company and the
consolidated financial statements, together with the contents of the report of the Parent Company’s board of
directors relating to these consolidated financial statements, are in accordance therewith. We further report that
we obtained all the information and explanations that we required for the purpose of our audit and that the
consolidated financial statements incotrporate all information that is required by the Companies Law No. 1 of
2016 and its Executive Regulations, as amended, and by the Parent Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation
and Articles of Association, as amended, that an inventotry was duly carried out and that, to the best of our
knowledge and belief, no violations of the Companies Law No. (1) of 2016, the Executive Regulations, or of
the Parent Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation and Articles of Association, as amended, have occurred
duting the year ended 31 December 2023 that might have had a material effect on the business or financial
position of the Parent Company.

We further report, to the best of our knowledge and belief, no violations of provisions of the Law No. 7 of
2010 regarding Capital Markets Authority (“CMA”) and its relevant regulations have occurred during the year
ended 31 December 2023 that might have had a material effect on the business or financial position of the

Parent Company.

_,..-o—'—'_'_.‘_'_’

Abdullatif M. Al-Aiban (CPA)
(Licence No. 94-A)
of Grant Thornton — Al-Qatami, Al-Aiban & Partners

Kuwait
12 March 2024
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Consolidated statement of profit or loss

Year ended Year ended
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
Notes 2023 2022
KD'000 KD'000
Revenue
Operating revenue 23,960 23,670
Cost of revenue 7 (6,481) (6,299)
Net income 17,479 17,371
Management and consultancy fees 984 874
Gain on sale and liquidation of subsidiaries 6.1 860 -
Gain on sale of trading properties 14 (a) 646 449
Change in fair value of an investment property under development 13 2,555 1,183
Change in fair value of investment properties 15 (2,487) 764
Dividends income from investments at FTVOCI 6,089 6,247
Share of results from associates 9 11,502 10,046
Foreign currency exchange gain 13 238
Interest income 1,001 536
Other income 1,567 853
40,209 38,561
Expenses and other charges
Staff costs (2,896) (2,980)
General, administrative & other expenses (5,891) (6,476)
Finance costs (8,295) (6,740)
(17,082) (16,196)
Profit for the year before provisions for contribution to KFAS,
provision for Zakat, provision for NLST and board of
directors’ remuneration 23,127 22,365
Provision for contribution to Kuwait Foundation for the Advancement
of Sciences (KFAS) 8 (81) (107)
Provision for Zakat 8 (172) (227)
Provision for National Labour Support Tax (NLST) 8 (524) (558)
Board of directors’ remuneration 23 (35) (35)
Profit for the year 22,315 21,438
Attributable to:
Owners of the Parent Company 15,708 15,046
Non-controlling interests 6,607 6,392
Profit for the year 22,315 21,438
Basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to the owners .
of the Parent Company 10 39.1 Fils 37.5Fils

The notes set ont on pages 11 10 58 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.



Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income

Year ended Year ended
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2023 2022
KD'000 KD'000
Profit for the year 22,315 21,438
Other comprehensive income:
Items to be reclassified to consolidated statement of profit or loss:
Share of other comprehensive income of associates 59 20
59 20
Items that will not be reclassified to consolidated statement of
profit or loss:
Net change in fair value of investments at FVTOCI (6,761) 35,472
Share of other comprehensive income/ (loss) of associates 342 (2,234)
(6,419) 33,238
Total other comprehensive (loss)/ income for the year (6,360) 33,258
Total comprehensive income for the year 15,955 54,696
Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Owners of the Parent Company 12,281 33,617
Non-controlling interests 3,674 21,079
15,955 54,696

Total comprehensive income for the year

The notes set out on pages 11 1o 58 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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31 December 2023

Consolidated statement of financial position

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
Note 2023 2022
KD'000 KD'000
Assets
Cash and bank balances 24 27,438 35,932
Accounts receivable and other debit balances 11 5,482 7,245
Investments at FVTOCI 12 165,520 182,155
Investment property under development 13 - 21,000
Trading properties 14 10,713 18,914
Investment propeities 15 186,641 163,010
Investments in associates 16 158,008 150,687
Intangible assets 2,826 4,260
Other assets 5,964 6,219
Total assets 562,592 589,422
Total liabilities and equity
Liabilities
Due to banks 17 6,990 5,367
Term loans 18 146,459 171,245
Accounts payable and other credit balances 19 21,887 27,662
Refundable rental deposits 7,651 7,778
Provision for employees’ end of service benefits 1,988 1,878
Total liabilities 184,875 213,920
Equity
Share capital 20 43,193 43,193
Share premium 20 11,132 11,132
Treasury shares 21 (11,981) (11,981)
Reserve on sale of treasury shares 756 756
Statutory reserve 22 17,931 16,329
Voluntary reserve 22 19,329 17,727
Foreign currency translation reserve 390 389
Cumulative changes in fair value 112,128 115,556
Retained earnings 37,141 30,614
Equity attributable to the owners of the Parent Company 230,019 223,716
Non-controlling interests 147,698 151,787
Total equity 377,717 375,502
Total liabilities and equity 562,592 589,422
—— m\__,
Mohamad Abdulhamid Mohamad Al-Marzook Abdulaziz Abduliah Ali Al Ghanim
Chairman Vice-Chairman

The notes set out on pages 11 to 58 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of cash flows

Year ended Year ended
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
Note 2023 2022
KD'000 KD'000
Operating activities
Profit for the year before provisions for contribution to Kuwait Foundation for the
Advancement of Sciences (KFAS), Zakat, National Labour Support Tax
(NLST) and Board of directors’ remuneration 23,127 22,365
Adjustments:
Depreciation and amortisation 1,984 2,247
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 87 34
Provision for employees’ end of service benefits 222 283
Change in fair value of investment properties 2,487 (764)
Change in fair value of an investment property under development (2,555) (1,183)
Gain on sale of subsidiaries (860) -
Gain on sale of trading properties (646) (449)
Dividends income from investments at FVOCI (6,089) (6,247)
Interest income (1,001) (5386)
ECL provisions - net 231 151
Impairment loss in value of debtors and other assets - 645
Share of results of associates (11,502) (10,046)
Finance costs 8,295 6,740
13,780 13,240
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable and other debit balances (1,820) (1,867)
Accounts payable and other credit balances (3,041) (4,009)
Refundable rental deposits (227) (208)
Employees’ end of service benefits paid (143) (182)
Zakat and NLST paid (733) (486)
Board of directors’ remuneration paid (35) (60)
Contribution to Kuwait Foundation for the Advancement of Sciences
(KFAS)Paid (98) (39)
Net cash from operating activities 7,683 6,389
Investing activities
Proceeds from sale of investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income 9,886 76,159
Net proceeds from sale and liquidation of subsidiaries (36) -
Net cash paid to acquire additional shares in a subsidiary (6,615) -
Paid to purchase investments at fair value through other comprehensive income - (3,134)
Proceeds from sale of trading properties 10,450 9,559
Paid to participate in incorporation of an associate - (2,600)
Additions to investment property under development (2,563) (1,439)
Additions to other assets and intangible assets (1,072) (1,489)
Dividends income received 6,089 6,247
Dividends income received from associates 4,628 3,285
Interest income received 940 479
Net cash from investing activities 21,707 87,067
Financing activities
Change in non-controlling interests due to an increase in subsidiary’s capital - 551
Change in equity as a result of acquiring an additional share in a subsidiary (527) =
Dividends paid to shareholders (4,807) (5,894)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests by subsidiary (1,771) (1,502)
Net change in treasury shares 3 (55)
Change in due to banks 1,634 (1,814)
Change in term loans (24,786) (74,836)
Finance costs paid (7,627) (6,641)
Net cash used in financing activities (37,884) (90,191)
Net (decrease)/ increase in cash and cash equivalents (8,494) 3,265
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 24 35,857 32,592
24 27,363 35,857

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

The notes set out on pages 11 1o 58 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

1 Incorporation and activities of the Parent Company

Tamdeen Real Estate Company — KPSC (the “Parent Company”) was incorporated in Kuwait on 16 December
1982 in accordance with the Companies Law. The Parent Company along with its subsidiaties ate jointly
referred to as “the Group”. The Parent Company’s shares are traded on the Kuwait Stock Exchange.

The principal activities of the Parent Company comprise of real estate investments inside and outside the State
of Kuwait, for the purposes of ownership, resale, leasing and renting. The Patent Company is also engaged in
the development of real estate projects and construction contracts of buildings, managing the properties of
others, establishing and managing real estate investment funds, real estate studies and consultancy, and investing
in companies with activities similar to its own and exploiting the financial sutpluses available at the Parent
Company through its investment in financial portfolios managed by professional companies and authorities.

The address of the Parent Company: PO Box 21816, Safat 13079, State of Kuwait.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023 wete authorised for issue by the
Parent Company’s board of directors on 12 March 2024 and are subject to the approval of the general assembly
of the shareholders.

2 Statement of compliance
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) promulgated by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”).

3 Changes in accounting policies

31 New and amended standards adopted by the Group

The following new amendments or standards were effective for the current year.
Standard or Interpretation Effective for annual periods beginning
IAS 1 Amendments- Disclosure of accounting policies 1 January 2023
IAS 8 Amendments- Definition of accounting estimates 1 January 2023

IAS 1 Amendments and IFRS Practice Statement 2 — Disclosure of accounting policies

The amendments to IAS 1 require entities to disclose matetial accounting policies instead of significant
accounting policies to assist entities to provide accounting policy disclosures that are more useful. The
amendments clarify that accounting policy information may be material because of its nature, even if the related
amounts are immaterial.

The adoption of the amendments did not have a significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.

IAS 8 Amendments — Definition of accounting estimates
The amendments to TAS 8 inserted the definition of accounting estimates replacing the definition of a change
in accounting estimates. Accounting estimates are now defined as monetary amounts in financial statements

that are subject to measurement uncertainty.

The adoption of the amendments did not have a significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

3 Changes in accounting policies (continued)

3.2 IASB Standards issued but not yet effective

At the date of authorisation of these consolidated financial statements, certain standards, amendments and
interpretations to existing standards have been published by the TASB but are not yet effective, and have not
been adopted eatly by the Group.

Management anticipates that all of the relevant pronouncements will be adopted in the Group’s accounting
policies for the first period beginning after the effective date of the pronouncements. Information on new
standards, amendments and interpretations that are expected to be relevant to the Group’s consolidated
financial statements is provided below. Certain other new standards and interpretations have been issued but
are not expected to have a material impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

Ejfective for annunal

Standard or Interpretation periods beginning
IFRS 10 and TAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its

Associate or Joint Ventute - Amendments No stated date
IAS 1 Amendments- Classification of labilities with debt covenants 1 January 2024
IAS 1 Amendments - Classification of liabilities as cutrent ot non-current 1 January 2024
IAS 7 and IFRS 7 Supplier finance arrangement disclosures 1 January 2024
IAS 21 Amendments - Lack of exchangeability 1 January 2025
IFRS 16 Amendments- Lease liability in a sale and leaseback 1 January 2024

IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture - Amendments

The Amendments to IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and IAS 28 Investments in Associates and
Joint Ventures (2011) clarify the treatment of the sale or contribution of assets from an investor to its associate
or joint venture, as follows:

e require full recognition in the investor's financial statements of gains and losses atising on the sale or
contribution of assets that constitute a business (as defined in IFRS 3 Business Combinations)

e  require the partial recognition of gains and losses where the assets do not constitute a business, i.e. a gain
or loss is recognised only to the extent of the unrelated investors’ interests in that associate or joint venture.

These requirements apply regardless of the legal form of the transaction, e.g. whether the sale or contribution
of assets occurs by an investor transferring shares in a subsidiary that holds the assets (resulting in loss of
control of the subsidiary), ot by the direct sale of the assets themselves.

IASB has postponed the effective date indefinitely until other projects are completed. However, early
implementation is allowed. Management anticipates that the application of these amendments may have an
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements in future should such transactions arise.

IAS 1 Amendments - Classification of liabilities with debt covenants

The amendments to TAS 1 clarify that classification of liabilities depends only on the covenants that an entity
is required to comply with on or before the reporting date of the classification of a liability as cutrent or non-
cutrent. In addition, an entity has to disclose information in the notes that enables users of financial statements
to understand the risk that non-current liabilities with covenants could become repayable within twelve months.

Management does not anticipate that the adoption of the amendments in the future will have a significant
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

3 Changes in accounting policies (continued)
3.2 IASB Standards issued but not yet effective (continued)

TIAS 1 Amendments - Classification of liabilities as current or non-current

The amendments to TAS 1 clarify the classification of a liability as either current or non-current is based on the
entity’s rights at the end of the reporting period. Stating management expectations around whether they will
defer settlement or not does not impact the classification of the liability. It has added guidance about lending
conditions and how these can impact classification and has included requirements for liabilities that can be
settled using an entity’s own instruments.

Management does not anticipate that the adoption of the amendments in the future will have a significant
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

IAS 7 and IFRS 7 Amendments - Supplier finance arrangements

The amendments to TAS 7 and IFRS 7 added disclosure objectives to IAS 7 to enable the users of the financial
statements to assess how the supplier finance arrangements effect an entity’s Liabilities and cash flows, and to
understand the effect of these arrangements on an entity’s exposure to liquidity risk and how the entity might
be affected if the arrangements were no longer available to it. While the amendments do not explicitly define
supplier finance arrangements it instead describes characteristics of such arrangements.

To meet the disclosure objectives, an entity will be required to disclose in aggregate for its supplier finance
arrangements:

¢ The terms and conditions of the arrangements

e The cartying amount, and associated line items presented in the entity’s statement of financial position, of
the liabilities that are part of the arrangements

e The carrying amount, and associated line items for which the suppliers have already received payment
from the finance providers

e Ranges of payment due dates for both those financial Liabilities that are part of a supplier finance
arrangement and comparable trade payables that are not part of a supplier finance arrangement

e  Liquidity risk information

The amendments, which contain specific transition reliefs for the first annual reporting period in which an
entity applies the amendments, are applicable for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.

Management will make required disclosures in the consolidated financial statements when the amendments

become effective.

IAS 21 Amendments — Lack of exchangeability
The amendments to TAS 21 addresses determination of exchange rate when there is long term lack of

exchangeability. The amendments:

e Specify when a currency is exchangeable into another currency and when it is not— a currency is
exchangeable when an entity is able to exchange that currency for the other currency through markets or
exchange mechanisms that create enforceable rights and obligations without undue delay at the
measurement date and for a specified purpose; a currency is not exchangeable into the other currency if
an entity can only obtain an insignificant amount of the other currency.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

3 Changes in accounting policies (continued)
3.2 IASB Standards issued but not yet effective (continued)
IAS 21 Amendments — Lack of exchangeability (continued)

®  Specify how an entity determines the exchange rate to apply when a currency is not exchangeable — when
a currency is not exchangeable at the measurement date, an entity estimates the spot exchange rate as the
rate that would have applied to an ordetly transaction between market participants at the measurement
date and that would faithfully reflect the economic conditions prevailing.

® Requite the disclosure of additional information when a currency is not exchangeable — when a cutrency
is not exchangeable an entity discloses information that would enable users of its financial statements to
evaluate how a currency’s lack of exchangeability affects, ot is expected to affect, its financial performance,
tinancial position and cash flows.

Management does not anticipate that the adoption of the amendments in the future will have a significant
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

IAS 16 Amendments — Lease liability in a sale and leaseback

The amendments to IFRS 16 requires a seller-lessee to measure the right of use asset arising from a sale and
leaseback transaction at the proportion of the previous carrying amount of the asset that relates to the right of
use the seller-lessee retains. Accordingly, in a sale and leaseback transaction the seller-lessee recognises only the
amount of any gain ot loss that relates to the rights transferred to the buyer-lessor. The initial measurement of
the lease liability that arise from a sale and leaseback transaction is a consequence of how the seller-lessee
measures the right of use asset and the gain or loss recognised at the date of the transaction. The new
requirements do not prevent a seller-lessee from recognising in any gain or loss relating to the partial or full
termination of a lease.

Management does not anticipate that the adoption of the amendments in the future will have a significant
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

4 Material accounting policies
The material accounting policies adopted in preparation of the consolidated financial statements are

summarised below:

4.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been presented in Kuwait Dinar (“KID”), which is the Parent
Company’s functional currency. They have been prepared under historical cost convention except for
investments at fair value through profit or loss and investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income and investment properties and an investment property under development measured at fair value.

The Group has elected to present the “consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income” in two separate statements: the “consolidated statement of profit or loss” and a “consolidated

statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income”.

4.2 Basis of consolidation .
The Group financial statements consolidate those of the Parent Company and all of its subsidiaries. Subsidiaries

are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity
when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has
the ability to affect those returns through its powet over the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the
date on which control is transfetred to the Group and they are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.
All subsidiaries have a reporting date of 31 December.
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4 Material accounting policies (continued)

4.2 Basis of consolidation (continued)
The details of the consolidated subsidiaries are set out in Note (6) to the consolidated financial statements.

All intra-group transactions and balances are eliminated on consolidation, including unrealised gains and losses
on intra-gtoup transactions. Where unrealised losses on intra-group asset sales are reversed on consolidation,
the underlying asset is also tested for impairment from a Group perspective.

Amounts reported in the financial statements of subsidiaries have been adjusted where necessaty to ensure
consistency with the accounting policies adopted by the Group.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Profit or loss and other comprehensive income of subsidiaries acquired
or disposed of during the year are recognised from the date the Group gains control, or until the date the Group
ceases to control the subsidiary, as applicable.

Non-controlling interests, presented as part of equity, represent the portion of a subsidiary’s profit or loss and
net assets that is not held by the Group. The Group attributes total comprehensive income ot loss of
subsidiaries between the owners of the parent and the non-controlling interests based on their respective
ownership interests. Losses within a subsidiary are attributed to the non-controlling interests even if that results
in a deficit balance.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity
transaction. If the group loses control over a subsidiary, it:

U Detecognizes the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary

. Detecognizes the carrying amount of any non-controlling interests

o Derecognizes the cumulative translation differences, recorded in equity

. Recognizes the fair value of the consideration received

° Recognizes the fair value of any investment retained

° Recognizes any surplus or deficit in profit or loss

o Reclassifies the parent’s share of components previously recognized in other comprehensive income

to profit or loss or retained earnings, as appropriate, as would be required if the Group has directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

4.3 Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition method in accounting for business combinations. The consideration
transferred by the Group to obtain control of a subsidiary is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair
values of assets transferred, liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued by the Group, which includes the
fair value of any asset or liability arising from a contingent consideration arrangement. Acquisition costs ate
expensed as incurred. For each business combination, the acquirer measures the non-controlling interests in
the acquitee cither at fair value or at the ptoportionate share of the acquitee’s identifiable net assets.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s previously held
equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date through profit or loss.
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4 Material accounting policies (continued)

4.3 Business combinations (continued)

The Group recognises identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination regardless
of whether they have been previously recognised in the acquiree’s financial statements prior to the acquisition.
Assets acquired and liabilities assumed are generally measured at their acquisition-date fair values.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date.

Goodwill is stated after separate recognition of identifiable intangible assets. It is calculated as the excess of the
sum of a) fair value of consideration transferred, b) the recognised amount of any non-controlling interest in
the acquiree and c) acquisition-date fair value of any existing equity interest in the acquiree, over the acquisition-
date fair values of identifiable net assets. If the fair values of identifiable net assets exceed the sum calculated
above, the excess amount (i.e. gain on a batrgain purchase) is recognised in profit or loss immediately.

44 Goodwill
Goodwill represents the future economic benefits arising from a business combination that are not individually
idendfied and separately recognised. Goodwill is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

Goodwill is not amortised but is reviewed for impairment at least annually. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or groups of cash-generating units)
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. Cash-generating units to which goodwill has been
allocated are tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when there is an indication that the unit may
be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount of the unit,
the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and
then to the other assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period. On disposal of a cash-
generating unit, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the profit or loss on
disposal.

4.5 Investment in associates

Associates are those entities over which the Group is able to exert significant influence but which ate neither
subsidiaries nor joint ventures. Investments in associates are initially recognised at cost and subsequently
accounted for using the equity method. Any goodwill or fair value adjustment attributable to the Group’s share
in the associate is not recognised separately and is included in the amount recognised as investment in

associates.

Under the equity method, the carrying amount of the investment in associates is increased or decreased to
recognise the Group’s share of the profit ot loss and other comprehensive income of the associate, adjusted
where necessary to ensure consistency with the accounting policies of the Group.

Unrealised gains and losses on transactions between the Group and its associates and joint ventures are
eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in those entities. Where unrealised losses are eliminated, the

undetlying asset is also tested for impairment.
The share of results of an associate is shown in the consolidated statement of profit ot loss.

It represents the profit attributable to equity holders of the associate and therefore represents profit after tax
and non-controlling interests in the subsidiaries of the associate.
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4 Material accounting policies (continued)

4.5 Investment in associates (continued)

The difference in reporting dates of the associates and the Group is not more than three months. Adjustments
are made for the effects of significant transactions or events that occur between that date and the date of the
Group’s consolidated financial statements. The associate’s accounting policies conform to those used by the
Group for like transactions and events in similar circumstances.

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise an additional
impairment loss on the Group’s investment in its associate. The Group determines at each reporting date
whether there is any objective evidence that the investment in the associate is impaired. If this is the case the
Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount of the associate
and its carrying value and recognises the amount in the ‘share of results of an associate’ in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

Upon loss of significant influence over the associate, the Group measures and recognises any retaining
investment at its fair value. Any differences between the carrying amount of the associate upon loss of
significant influence and the fair value of the remaining investment and proceeds from disposal are recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Investments in associates are non-cutrent assets, unless otherwise provided.

4.6 Segment reporting

The Group has two operating segments: the real estate and investment segments. In identifying these operating
segments, management generally follows the Group’s service lines representing its main products and services.
Each of these operating segments is managed separately as each requires different approaches and other
resources. All inter-segment transfers are carried out at arm’s length prices.

For management purposes, the Group uses the same measurement policies as those used in its consolidated
financial statements. In addition, assets or liabilities which are not directly attributable to a certain operating
segment are not allocated to the segment.

4.7 Revenue recognition
The Group recognises revenue from the following major sources:

° Rendering of services

o Revenue from sale of properties

° Rental income and other services income from investment properties
° Providing hotel services

° Interest and similar income

° Dividends income

Revenue is measured based on the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in a contract with
a customer and excludes amounts collected on behalf of third parties. The Group recognises revenue when it
transfers control of a product or service to a customer.

The Group follows a 5-step process:

Identifying the contract with a customer

Identifying the performance obligations

Determining the transaction price

Allocating the transaction price to the performance obligations
Recognising revenue when/as performance obligation(s) are satistied.

S N O S
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4 Material accounting policies (continued)

4.7 Revenue recognition (continued)
The Group often enters into transactions involving a range of the Group’s products and services.

In all cases, the total transaction price for a contract is allocated amongst the vatious performance obligations
based on their relative stand-alone selling prices.

Revenue is recognised either at a point in time or over time, when (or as) the Group satisfies performance
obligations by transferring the promised goods or setvices to its customets.

The Group recognises contract liabilities for consideration received in respect of unsatisfied performance
obligations and reports these amounts, if any, as other liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial
position. Similarly, if the Group satisfies a petformance obligation before it receives the consideration, the
Group recognises either a contract asset or a receivable, if any, in its consolidated statement of financial
position, depending on whether something other than the passage of time is required before the consideration
is due.

4.7.1 Rental income
Rental income from investment properties is recognised as stated in note 4.10.

4.7.2 Services income
The Group earns revenue from maintenance, advertising and other services. Revenue from providing services
is recognised in the accounting period in which the services are rendered.

4.7.3 Management and consultancy fees

The Group earns fees and commission income from a variety of asset management, investment banking,
custody, consultancy and brokerage services provided to its customers. Fees and commission income are
recognised over the petiod of the service.

4.7.4  Revenue from sale of trading properties

The Group develops and sells residential apartments, which is patt of a residential complex located in Kuwait.
Revenue on sale of these properties is recognised when control over the property has been transferred to the
customer. Management believes that the enforceable right of payment with regard to this project does not arise
until legal title of the property is passed to the customer / legal notice is served to the customer to take
possession of the property. Therefore, revenue is recognised at a point in time when either the legal title 1s
passed to the customet, or when legal notice is served to the customer to take possession of the property or
when the property is handed over to the customer.

4.7.5 Rendering of hotel services

The Group also renders hotel services and revenue from rendering of services is recognised in the accounting
period in which the services are rendered ot performed. Room revenue is recognised on the rooms occupied
on a daily basis. Revenue on food, beverage and other related sales are accounted for at the time of sale.

4.7.6 Interest income
Interest income and expenses atre reported on an accrual basis using the effective interest rate method.

4.7.7  Dividend income
Dividend income are recognised at the time the right to receive payment is established.
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4 Material accounting policies (continued)

4.8 Operating expenses
Operating expenses are recognised in profit or loss upon utilisation of the setvice or at the date of their origin.

4.9 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are
capitalised during the period of time that is necessary to complete and prepare the asset for its intended use or
sale. Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred and reported in finance costs.

4.10 Leased assets

The Group as a lessee

For any new contracts entered into, the Group considets whether a contract is, ot contains a lease. A lease is
defined as ‘a contract, or part of a contract, that conveys the right to use an asset (the underlying asset) for a
petiod of time in exchange for consideration’.

To apply this definition the Group assesses whether the contract meets three key evaluations which are whether:

* the contract contains an identified asset, which is either explicitly identified in the contract or implicitly
specified by being identified at the time the asset is made available to the Group

* the Group has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the identified
asset throughout the period of use, considering its rights within the defined scope of the contract

* the Group has the right to direct the use of the identified asset throughout the period of use. The
Group assess whether it has the right to ditect how and for what putpose’ the asset is used throughout
the period of use.

The Group as a lessee

The Group has elected to account for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets using the practical
expedients. Instead of recognising a right-of-use asset and lease liability, the payments in relation to these are
recognised as an expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Measnrement and recognition of leases as a lessee
At lease commencement date, the Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability on the the
consolidated statement of financial position measured as follows:

Right-of use asser
The right-of-use asset is measured at cost, which is made up of the initial measurement of the lease liability, any

initial direct costs incurred by the Group, an estimate of any costs to dismantle and remove the asset at the end
of the lease, and any lease payments made in advance of the lease commencement date (net of any incentives

received).

Subsequent to initial measutement, the Group depreciates the right-of-use assets (which are not classified as
investment properties) on a straight-line basis from the lease commencement date to the earlier of the end of
the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term. The Group also assesses the right-of-use

asset for impairment when such indicators exist.

Subsequent to initial measurement, the Group accounts for certain of its right-of-use assets as investment
properties carried at fair value. These values are supported by market evidence and are determined by external
professional valuers with sufficient experience with respect to both the location and the nature of the
investment property. Any gain or loss resulting from either a change in the fair value is immediately recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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4 Material accounting policies (continued)
4.10  Leased assets (continued)
The Group as a lessor (continned)

Lease liability
At the commencement date, the Group measures the lease liability at the present value of the lease payments
unpaid at that date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease if that rate is readily available or the

Group’s incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability are made up of fixed payments (including in
substance fixed), variable payments based on an index or rate, amounts expected to be payable under a residual
value guarantee and payments arising from options reasonably certain to be exercised.

Subsequent to initial measurement, the liability is reduced for payments made and increased for interest. It is
remeasured to reflect any reassessment or modification, ot if there are changes in in-substance fixed payments.
When the lease liability is remeasured, the cotresponding adjustment is reflected in the right-of-use asset, or
profit and loss if the right-of-use asset is already reduced to zero.

The Group as a lessor

The Group enters into lease agreements as a lessor with respect to some of its investment properties. The
Group classifies its leases as either operating or finance leases. When the terms of a lease transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee, the contract is classified as finance lease. All other leases

are classified as operating leases.

When the Group is an intermediate lessot, it accounts for the head-lease and sub-lease as two separate contacts.
The sub-lease is classified as finance lease ot operating lease by reference to the right-of-use of asset arising

from the head-lease.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over lease term. Initial direct cost
incurred in arranging and negotating a lease are added to the cartying amount of the lease assets and recognised

on a straight line basis over the lease term.

Amounts due under finance leases are recognised as receivables. Finance lease income is allocated to the
accounting periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the Group’s net investment outstanding

for the finance lease.

411  Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are initially recognised at acquisition cost or manufacturing cost, including any
costs directly attributable to bringing the assets to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of
operating in the manner intended by the Group’s management.

Property, plant and equipment are subsequently measured using the cost model, cost less subsequent
depreciation and impairment losses. Depreciation is recognised on a straight-line basis to write down the cost
less estimated residual value of property, plant and equipment. The useful life and depreciation method are
reviewed periodically to ensure that the method and petiod of depreciation are consistent with the expected
pattern of economic benefits arising from items of property, plant and equipment.
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4 Material accounting policies (continued)

4.11  Property, plant and equipment (continued)
The following annual rates are applied:

* Machines and equipment 20% to 33.33%
* Vehicles 20% to 25%
* Furniture, fixtures and office equipment 5% to 33.33%

In the case of leasehold property, expected useful lives are determined by reference to comparable owned assets

or over the term of the lease, if shorter.
Material residual value estimates and estimates of useful life are updated as required, but at least annually.

When assets are sold or retired, their cost and accumulated depreciation are eliminated from the accounts and
any gain or loss resulting from their disposal is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

412  Intangible assets
Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost less accumulated

amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

The estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period. Changes
in estimates are accounted for as at the beginning of the financial year in which the changes have been occurred
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that are acquired separately are catried at cost less accumulated
impairment losses.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future economic benefits are expected from use or
disposal. Gains or losses arising from derecognition are measutred as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

413  Investment properties
Investment properties are propetties held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation, and are accounted for
using the fair value model.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost. Subsequently, investment properties are revalued annually
and ate included in the consolidated statement of financial position at their fair values. These values supported
by market evidence and are determined by external professional valuers with sufficient experience with respect
to both the location and the nature of the investment property or ate determined by the management of the
Group based on their knowledge of the property.

Any gain or loss resulting from either a change in the fair value or the sale of an investment property is
immediately recognised in profit or loss within “change in fair value of investment property”.

Transfers are made to or from investment property only when there is a change in use. For a transfer from
investment property to owner-occupied property, the deemed cost for subsequent accounting is the fair value
at the date of change in use. If owner-occupied property becomes an investment property, the Group accounts
for such property in accordance with the policy stated under property, plant and equipment up to the date of

change in use.
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414  Investment properties under development

Investment properties under development represent properties held for future use as investment property and
is initially measured at cost. Subsequently, properties under development are carried at fair value that is
determined based on valuation performed by independent valuers at the end of each year using valuation
methods consistent with the market conditions at the reporting date. Gains or losses from change in the fair
value are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

If the Group determines that the fair value of an investment propetty under development is not reliably
determinable but expects the fair value of the property to be reliably determinable when construction is
complete, the Group measures that investment property under development at cost until either its fair value
becomes reliably determinable or development is completed (whichever is eatlier).

4.15  Trading properties

Trading properties are stated at the lower of cost or net realisable value. Costs are those expenses incutred in
bringing each property to its present condition including identifiable finance costs. Net realisable value is based
on estimated selling price less any further costs expected to be incurred on completion and disposal.

416  Impairment testing of goodwill and non-financial assets

For impairment assessment purposes, assets ate grouped at the lowest levels for which there are largely
independent cash inflows (cash generating units). As a result, some assets are tested individually for impairment
and some are tested at cash-generating unit level. Goodwill is allocated to those cash-generating units that are
expected to benefit from synergies of the related business combination and represent the lowest Jevel within
the Group at which management monitors goodwill.

Cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated (determined by the Group’s management as
equivalent to its operating segments) are tested for impairment at least annually. All other individual assets or
cash-generating units are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the

carrying amount may not be recoverable.

An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value-in-use. To determine
the value-in-use, management estimates expected future cash flows from the asset or each cash-generating unit
and determines a suitable interest rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.

The data used for impairment testing procedures are directly linked to the Group’s latest approved budget,
adjusted as necessary to exclude the effects of future reorganisations and asset enhancements.

Discount factors are determined individually for each asset or cash-generating unit and reflect management’s

assessment of respective risk profiles, such as market and asset-specific risks factors.

Impairment losses for cash-generating units reduce first the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to that
cash-generating unit. Any remaining impairment loss is charged pro rata to the other assets in the cash-
generating unit. With the exception of goodwill, all assets are subsequently reassessed for indications that an
impairment loss previously recognised may no longer exist. An impairment charge is reversed if the cash-

generating unit’s recoverable amount exceeds its carrying amount.
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4 Material accounting policies (continued)

4.17 Financial instruments

4.17.1 Recognition, initial measurement and derecognition

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the financial instrument and are measured initially at fair value adjusted by directly attributable
transactions costs, except for those carried at fair value through profit or loss which are measured initially at
fair value. Subsequent measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities are described below.

A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of financial asset or patt of group of similar financial assets) is

primarily derecognised when:

e rights to receive cash flows from the assets have expired;
o the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset ot has assumed an obligation to
pay the received cash flows in full without matetial delay to a third party under a ‘pass through’ arrangement

and either.

(a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset or
(b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all risks and rewards of the asset but has

transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-
through arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risks and rewards of ownership.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, nor transferred
control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s
continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset
and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has
retained.

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.
When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms,
ot the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a
derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective
carrying amounts is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

4.17.2 Classification of financial assets
For the purpose of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified into the following categories upon

initial recognition:

* financial assets at amortised cost
* financial assets at fair value through Other Comprehensive Income (FVTOCI)
* financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVIPL)

The classification is determined by both:

* the entity’s business model for managing the financial asset
¢ the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset.
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4 Material accounting policies (continued)
4.17  Financial instruments (continued)

4.17.2 Classification of financial assets (continued)
The Group may make the following itrevocable election/designation at initial recognition of a financial asset:

¢ the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment in other
comprehensive income if certain critetia are met; and

¢ the Group may irrevocably designate a debt investment that meets the amortised cost or FVTOCI criteria as
measured at FVIPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch. In the period
presented no such designation has been made.

4.17.3 Subsequent measurement of financial assets

° Financial assets at amortised cost
Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if the assets meet the following conditions (and are not

designated as FVTPL):

* they are held within a business model whose objective is to hold the financial assets and collect its contractual

cash flows
* the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and

interest on the principal amount outstanding

After initial recognition, these are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, less
provision for impairment. Discounting is omitted where the effect of discounting is immaterial.

The Group’s financial assets at amortised cost comprise of the following:

o Cuash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comptise cash on hand and short-term deposits, which are subject to an insignificant

risk of changes in value.

o Accounts receivable and other financial assets
Accounts receivable are stated at original invoice amounts less allowance for any impairment.

Financial assets at amortised costs, which are not categorised under any of the above are classified as “Accounts
receivable and other debit balances™.

° Financial assets ar FVTOCI
The Group’s financial assets at FVTOCI comprise of the following:

- Investment in equity shares: These represent investments in equity shares of various companies and include both

quoted and unquoted.

Equity instruments at FVTOCT

On initial recognition, the Group may make an irrevocable election (on an instrument-by-instrument basis) to
designate investments in equity instruments as at FVTOCI. Designation at FVOCI is not permitted if the equity
investment is held for trading or if it is contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business

combination.
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4 Material accounting policies (continued)
4.17  Financial instruments (continued)

4.17.3 Subsequent measurement of financial assets (continued)

o Financial assets at FVTOCI (continued)
A financial asset is held for trading if:

¢ it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling it in the near term; or

* on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Group manages
together and has evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term profit taking; or

¢ it is a derivative (except for a derivative that is a financial guarantee contract or a designated and effective
hedging instrument).

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs.

Subsequently these assets are measured at fair value. Dividend on these investments in equity instruments are
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit ot loss. All other gains and losses ate recognised in other
comprehensive income (accumulated fair value reserve) and are never reclassified to profit or loss. Transfers
of realised gains on disposal within components of equity (to retained earnings) are done based on management
discretion.

o Financial assets at FVIPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for measurement at amortised cost or FVOCI are categorised at
fair value through profit and loss. Further, irrespective of business model, financial assets whose contractual
cash flows are not solely payments of principal and interest are accounted for at FVIPL. All derivative financial
instruments fall into this category, except for those designated and effective as hedging instruments, for which
the hedge accounting requirements apply. The category also contains investments in equity shares.

Assets in this category are measured at fair value with gains or losses recognised in consolidated statement of
profit or loss. The fair values of financial assets in this category ate determined by reference to active market
transactions ot using a valuation technique whete no active market exists.

The Group does not hold any financial assets at F'VTPL as of the reporting date.

4.17.4 Impairment of financial assets

All financial assets except for those at FVIPL and Equity instruments at FVTOCI are subject to review for
impairment at least at each reporting date to identify whether there is any objective evidence that a financial
asset or a Group of financial assets is impaired. Different criteria to determine impairment are applied for each

category of financial assets, which are described below.

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses (“ECL”) on financial assets at amortised cost
or at FVTOCL

For financial assets, the expected credit loss is estimated as the difference between all contractual cash flows
that are due to the Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive. The amount of expected credit losses is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk
since initial recognition of the respective financial asset.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

4 Material accounting policies (continued)
417  Financial instruments (continued)

4.17.4 Impairment of financial assets (continued)

The measurement of expected credit losses is a function of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of
default and loss given default is based on historical data adjusted by forward looking information as described
above. As for the exposure at default, for financial assets, this is represented by the assets’ gross cartying amount
at the reporting date.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables and amounts due from related parties. The
expected credit losses on these financial assets are estimated using a provision mattix based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the reporting
date, including time value of money whete appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises lifetime ECL when there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. However, if the credit risk on the financial instrument has not
increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance for that financial
instrument at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.

Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses that will result from all possible default events over the
expected life of a financial instrument. In contrast, 12 month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that
is expected to result from default events on a financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the

reporting date.

The Group recognises an impairment gain ot loss in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for all financial
assets with a corresponding adjustment to their cartying amount through a loss allowance account, except for
investments in debt instruments that are measured at FVT'OCI, for which the loss allowance is recognised in
othet comptehensive income and accumulated in the fait value reserve, and does not reduce the carrying

amount of the financial asset in the statement of financial position.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in
the previous reporting period, but determines at the cutrent reporting date that the conditions for lifetime ECL
are no longer met, the Group measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-month ECL at the current
reporting date, except for assets for which simplified approach was used.

4.17.5 Classification and subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
The Group’s financial liabilities include terms loans, due to banks, accounts payable and other credit balances.

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification as follows (the Group does

not have any financial liabilities classified as at fair value through profit or loss):

o  Financial Iiabilities at amortised cost
These are stated at amortised cost using effective interest rate method. The Group categorises financial liabilities

at amortised cost into the following categories:
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4 Material accounting policies (continued)

4.17  Financial instruments (continued)

4.17.5 C(lassification and subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
e  Financial liabilities ar amortised cost (continued)

o Borrowings (terms loans and due to banks)

Term loans are carried on the date of the consolidated statement of financial position at their principal amounts.
Interest is charged as an expense as it accrues, with unpaid interest included in the creditors’ balances. All
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective intetest rate method. Gains and
losses are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well
as through the effective interest rate method (EIR) amortisation process.

o  Murabaha finance payables

Murabaha finance payables represent amounts payable on a deferred settlement basis for assets purchased
under murabaha arrangements. Murabaha finance payables ate stated at the gross amount of the payable, net of
deferred finance cost. Deferred finance cost is expensed on a time apportionment basis taking into account the
borrowing rate attributable and the balance outstanding.

o Refundable rental deposirs

The refundable rental deposits represent amounts received from tenants in accordance to the signed rental

contracts and will be refunded upon expiry of such contracts.

o _Awounts payable and other financial liabilities

Liabilities are recognised for amounts to be paid in the future for goods or services received, whether billed by
the supplier or not, and classified as trade payables. Financial liabilities other than at FVTPL which are not
categorised under any of the above are classified as “Other financial liabilities”.

All interest-related charges and, if applicable, changes in an instrument’s fair value that are reported in profit or

loss, are included within finance costs or finance income.

4.18  Amortised cost of financial instruments
This is computed using the effective intetest method less any allowance for impairment. The calculation takes
into account any premium or discount on acquisition and includes transaction costs and fees that are an integral

part of the effective interest rate.

4.19  Offserting of financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount teported in the consolidated statement of

financial position if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.
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4 Material accounting policies (continued)

4.20  Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments that are traded in active markets at each reporting date is determined by
reference to quoted market prices or dealer price quotations (bid price for long positions and ask price for short
positions), without any deduction for transaction costs.

For financial instruments not traded in an active market, the fair value is determined using approptiate valuation
techniques. Such techniques may include using recent arm’s length market transactions; reference to the current
fair value of another instrument that is substantially the same; a discounted cash flow analysis or other valuation
models.

An analysis of fair values of financial instruments and further details as to how they are measured are provided
in Note 29.

4.21  Equity, reserves and dividend payments

Share capital represents the nominal value of shares that have been issued and paid up.

Share premium includes any premiums received on issue of share capital. Any transaction costs associated with
the issuing of shares are deducted from share premium.

Statutory and voluntary reserves comprise appropriations of cutrent and prior period profits in accordance with
the requirements of the commercial companies’ law and the Parent Company’s memorandum of incorporation
and articles of association, as amended.

Other components of equity include the following:

*  Foreign currency translation resetve — comprises foreign currency translation differences atising from the
translation of financial statements of the Group’s foreign entities into KID

*  Fair value reserve — comprises gains and Josses relating to FVTOCI investment and fair value reserve of
the associates’ share.

Retained earnings include all current and prior period retained profits. All transactions with owners of the
Parent are recorded separately within equity.

Dividend distributions payable to equity shareholders are included in other liabilities when the dividends have
been approved in a general assembly meeting.

4.22  Treasury shares

Treasury shares consist of the Patrent Company’s own issued shares that have been reacquired by the Group
and not yet reissued or cancelled. The treasury shares are accounted for using the cost method. Under this
method, the weighted average cost of the shares reacquired is charged to a contra account in equity.

When the treasury shares ate reissued, gains are credited to a separate account in equity, (the “sale of treasury
shares reserve”), which is not distributable. Any realised losses are charged to the same account to the extent
of the credit balance on that account. Any excess losses are charged to retained earnings then to the voluntary
reserve and statutory reserve. No cash dividends are paid on these shares. The issue of stock dividend shares
increases the number of treasury shares proportionately and reduces the average cost per share without affecting

the total cost of treasury shares.
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4 Material accounting policies (continued)

4.23  Provisions, contingent assets and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a tesult of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of economic resoutces will be requited from the Group and amounts can
be estimated reliably. Timing or amount of the outflow may still be uncettain.

Provisions are measured at the estimated expenditure required to settle the present obligation, based on the
most reliable evidence available at the reporting date, including the risks and uncertainties associated with the
present obligation. Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be
required in settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. Provisions are
discounted to their present values, where the time value of money is material.

In certain instances, the Group is required to perform maintenance and restore properties to agreed
specifications. Provisions for such cost ate recognised based on terms of the contracts.

Contingent assets are not recognised in the consolidated financial statements, but are disclosed when an inflow
of economic benefits is probable.

Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position, but are disclosed
unless the possibility of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is remote.

4.24  Foreign cutrency translation

4.24.1 Functional and presentation currency
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Kuwait Dinar (IKD), which is also the functional

currency of the parent company.

4.24.2 Foreign currency transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency of the Parent Company, using the
exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions (spot exchange rate). Foreign exchange gains and
losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the remeasurement of monetary items
denominated in foreign currency at yeat-end exchange rates are recognised in profit or loss. Non-monetary
items are not retranslated at yeat-end and are measured at historical cost (translated using the exchange rates at
the transaction date), except for non-monetaty items measuted at fair value which are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when fair value was determined. Translation difference on non-monetary assets
classified at “FVPL?” is reported as part of the fair value gain or loss in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and “investments at FVTOCI” are reported as part of the cumulative change in fair value within other

comprehensive income.

4.24.3 [Foreign operations
In the Group’s financial statements, all assets, liabilities and transactions of Group entities with a functional

currency other than the KD are translated into KD upon consolidation. The functional currency of the Group's
entities has remained unchanged during the reporting period.

On consolidation, assets and liabilities have been translated into KD at the closing rate at the reporting date.
Goodwill and fair value adjustments atising on the acquisition of a foreign entity have been treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated into KD at the closing rate. Income and expenses have been
translated into KD at the average rate over the reporting period. Exchange differences ate charged/credited to
other comprehensive income and recognised in the foreign currency translation reserve in equity. On disposal
of a foreign operation, the related cumulative translation differences recognised in equity are reclassified to
profit or loss and are recognised as part of the gain or loss on disposal.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

4 Material accounting policies (continued)

4.25  Employees’ end of service benefits

The Group provides end of service benefits to its employees. The entitlement to these benefits is based upon the
employees’ final salary and length of service, subject to the completion of a minimum setvice period in accordance
with relevant labour law and the employees’ contracts. The expected costs of these benefits are accrued overt the
period of employment. This liability, which is unfunded, represents the amount payable to each employee as a
result of termination on the reporting date.

With respect to its Kuwaiti national employees, the Group makes conttibutions to the Public Institution for Social
Security calculated as a percentage of the employees’ salaries. The Parent Company’s obligations are limited to
these contributions, which are expensed when due.

4.26  Related party transactions

Related parties consist of Major shareholders, subsidiaries, associates, company directors, executive officers,
their close family members and companies of which they are principal owners. All related party transactions
are approved by management.

4.27 Taxation

4.27.1 National Labor Support Tax (NLST)

NLST is calculated in accordance with Law No. 19 of 2000 and the Kuwait Ministry of Finance Resolutions
No. 24 of 2006 at 2.5% of taxable profit attributable to the Parent Company’s owners. As per law, allowable
deductions include income from associates and subsidiaries and cash dividends from the listed companies,
which are subject to NLST.

4.27.2 Kuwait Foundation for the Advancement of Sciences (KFAS)

The contribution to KKFAS is calculated at 1% of taxable profit of the Group attributable to the Parent
Company's owners in accordance with the modified calculation based on the Foundation’s Board of Directors’
resolution, which states that revenues from the associates and subsidiaries, board of directors' remuneration
and transfer to statutory reserve should be excluded from profit for the year when determining the contribution.

Accumulated losses brought forward can be deducted from the adjusted profit for the year when calculating
the KIFAS contribution for the year.

4.27.3 Zakat
Contribution to Zakat is calculated at 1% of the profit of the Group attributable to the Parent Company’s
owners in accordance with the Kuwait Ministtry of Finance resolution No. 58/2007 effective from 10 December

2007.

Under the NLST and Zakat regulations, no carry forward of losses to the future years nor any carry back to
prior years is permitted.

4.28  Fiduciary assets
Assets held in trust or in a fiduciary capacity are not treated as assets of the Group and accordingly are not

included in these consolidated financial statements.
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4.29  Climate-related matters

The Group considers climate-related matters in estimates and assumptions, where appropriate. Risks induced
by climate changes include transition risks (e.g. regulatory changes and reputational risks) and physical risks due
to weather related events (e.g. storms, wildfires, rising sea levels). The Group has not identified significant risks
induced by climate changes that could negatively and materially affect the Group’s consolidated financial
statements. Management continuously assesses the impact of climate-related matters.

5 Significant management judgments and estimation uncertainty

The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgments,
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities, at the end of the reporting period. However, uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount
of the asset or liability affected in future periods

5.1 Significant management judgments

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following significant
judgments, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements:

5.1.1 Business model assessment

The Group classifies financial assets after petforming the business model test (please see accounting policy for
financial instruments sections in note (4.17). This test includes judgement reflecting all relevant evidence
including how the petformance of the assets is evaluated and their performance measured and the risks that
affect the performance of the assets. Monitoring is part of the Group’s continuous assessment of whether the
business model for which the remaining financial assets are held continues to be appropriate and if it is not
appropriate whether there has been a change in business model and so a prospective change to the classification
of those assets.

5.1.2 Control assessment
When determining control, management considers whether the Group has the practical ability to direct the
relevant activities of an investee on its own to generate returns for itself. The assessment of relevant activities

and ability to use its power to affect variable return requires considerable judgement.

5.13 Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured based on the consideration which the Group expects to be entitled in a contract and is
recognised when it transfers control of a product or setvice to a customer. The determination of whether the
revenue recognition criteria as specified under IFRS 15 and in the revenue recognition accounting policy

explained in Note 4.7 are met requires significant judgement.

5.1.4  Classification of real estate

Management decides on acquisition of a real estate whether it should be classified as trading, property undet
development or investment property. Such judgement at acquisition determines whether these properties are
subsequently measured at cost ot net realisable value whichever is lower or fair value and if the changes in fair
value of these properties are reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

5 Significant management judgments and estimation uncertainty
(continued)
51 Significant management judgments (continued)

5.1.4  Classification of real estate (continued)

The Group classifies property as trading property if it is acquired principally for sale in the ordinary course of
business. And if such properties are under development with an intention of being sold in future they are
classified under trading properties under development.

The Group classifies property as investment property if it is acquired to generate rental income or for capital
appreciation. If such properties are under development, they are classified under investment properties under

development.

5.15  Significant increase in credit risk

Estimated credit losses are measured as an allowance equal to 12-month ECL for stage 1 assets, or lifetime
ECL for stage 2 or stage 3 assets. An asset moves to stage 2 when its credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition. IFRS 9 does not define “significant” increase. Therefore, assessment whether the credit risk
of an asset has significantly increased, the Group takes into account qualitative and quantitative reasonable and

supportable forward-looking information.

5.2 Estimates uncertainty
Information about estimates and assumptions that have the most significant effect on recognition and
measurement of assets, liabilities, income and expenses is provided below. Actual results may be substantially

different.

5.2.1 Fair value of financial instruments

Management apply valuation techniques to determine the fair value of financial instruments where active market
quotes are not available. This requites management to develop estimates and assumptions based on market
inputs, using obsetrvable data that market participants would use in pricing the instrument. Where such data is
not observable, management uses its best estimate. Estimated fair values of financial instruments may vary
from the actual prices that would be achieved in an arm’s length transaction at the reporting date.

5.22 Impairment of financial assets

Measurement of estimated credit losses involves estimates of loss given default and probability of default. Loss
given default is an estimate of the loss arising in case of default by customer. Probability of default is an estimate
of the likelihood of default in the future. The calculation of which includes histotical data, assumptions and
expectations of future conditions. The Group based these estimates using reasonable and supportable forward
looking information, which is based on assumptions for the future movement of different economic drivers

and how these drivers will affect each other.

5.2.3 Impairment of associates

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise any
impairment loss on the Group’s investment in its associates, at each reporting date based on existence of any
objective evidence that the investment in the associate is impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates the
amount of impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying value
and recognises the amount in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

5 Significant management judgments and estimation uncertainty
(continued)
5.2 Estimates uncertainty (continued)

5.2.3 Impairment of associates (continued)

The Group’s management has updated the impairment studies of the associates. Impairment is assessed for the
entire carrying value of the Group’s investments in the associates including goodwill, therefore no impairment
study for goodwill was required independently. The recoverable amount of the investment in associates had
been determined, based on value in use calculations, using cash flow projections based on financial budgets as
follows:

2023 2022
Kuwait National Cinema Co. KPSC
Financial budgets cover period (years) 2024 - 2028 2027 - 2023
Discount rate (weighted average cost of capital) 12% 10%
overall growth rate 3% 2.75%
British Industries for Printing and Packaging KSCC
Financial budgets cover period (years) 2024 - 2028 2027 — 2023
overall growth rate 3% 2.75%
Discount rate (weighted average cost of capital) 12% 10%
BW British for Printing Company - KSCC
Financial budgets cover period (years) 2024 - 2028 2027 - 2023
Discount rate (weighted average cost of capital) 12% 10%
overall growth rate 3% 2.75%

The discount rate reflects the current market assessment of risks specific to associates.

Management believes that the cartying amount of the investment in Kuwait National Cinema Company is not
impaired based on assessment of its recoverable value estimated using the value in-use method.

5.2.4  Valuation of investment properties

The Group catries its investment properties at fair value. Changes in fair value are recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss. Fair values are estimated by independent valuers who have used
valuation techniques. These estimated fair values of investment properties may vary from the actual prices that
would be achieved in an arm’s length transaction at the reporting date.

5.2.5 Impairment of trading properties
trading properties are held at the lower of cost or net realisable value. An estimate is made of their net realisable

value on an individual basis.

Management estimates the net realisable values of these properties, taking into account the most reliable
evidence available at each reporting date. The future realisation of these properties may be affected by market-
driven changes that may reduce future selling prices.

5.2.6 Significant influence
Significant influence exists when the size of an entity’s own voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of
other vote holders, give the entity the practical ability unilaterally to direct the relevant activities of the

Company.
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6 Subsidiaries
6.1 The Group's consolidated subsidiaties are as follows:
Effective percentage
of ownership in Country of Principal Date of Date of
Subsidiaries subsidiaries incorporation activity incorporation control
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2023 2022
% %
Tamdeen Investment " 3 March 11 January
Company-KPSC* 55.94 55.94 Kuwait Investment 1997 2003
Manshar Real Estate Company g Real 17 March 17 March
-KSC (Closed) L Kl estate 2007 2007
" ésdtg?et ggingﬁor?kgzal - 98.98 Kuwait Resl 29 e 1 e
ompany : estate 2006 2012
(Closed)
Taénedv?jg quar:tEé;itwe any — 33 Kuwait Res! alcl) 1o
3 il ) estate 2008 2016

KSC (Closed)***
* This investment is held through investment portfolio managed by a specialized investment company.

** The subsidiary’s extraordinary general assembly held on 16 March 2023 approved the liquidation of the
subsidiary. A profit of KD 101 thousand resulted from the liquidation, which was recognised in the statement
of profit or loss for the current year.

Disposal of subsidiaries

During the current year, the subsidiary (Tamdeen Investment Company - KPSC) disposed its investment in Spirit
Art Company and Tamdeen Sports Company (subsidiaries of) to a related party for an amount of KID2,446,649
in cash, in addition the Group had liquidated Blue Sky Entertainment Company, following is a statement of the
subsidiaries and the related percentages disposed:

Name of the subsidiary Percentage
%
Spirit Art Company 99
Tamdeen Sports Company (owned by Wafra Holding Company) 99.9
Blue Sky Entertainment Company {owned by Al-Madina Al-Thaniya General Trading and 60

Contracting Company)

The subsidiary lost control over the aforementioned subsidiaries, and accordingly ceased consolidating these
subsidiaries from 1 April 2023, the date of losing control and liquidation date.
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6 Subsidiaries (continued)

6.1 The Group's consolidated subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

Disposal of subsidiaries (continued)

The following is a statement of the assets and liabilities of disposed subsidiaties as at the date of disposal:

Tamdeen Blue Sky
Spirit Art Sports Entertainment
Company Company Company Total
KD ‘000 KD ‘000 KD ‘000
Cash and cash equivalents 1,659 824 11 2,494
Accounts receivable and other debit balances 419 415 3 837
Fixed assets and project under process 192 123 - 315
Intangible assets - 356 - 356
Other assets 1 19 - 20
Accounts payable and other credit balances (1,067) (1,145) (8) (2,220)
Employees end of service indemnity (41) (52) (1) (94)
Net assets disposed 1,163 540 5 1,708
Consideration received in cash 1,909 538 - 2,447
Fair value of residual interest transferred to
financial assets at fair value through OCI 19 1 . 20
1,928 539 - 2,467
Less: net assets disposed (1,163) (540) (5) (1,708)
Gains/(losses) on disposal of subsidiaries 765 (1) (5) 759
Below are the net cashflows resulted from disposal:
KD ‘000
Cash received from disposal of subsidiaries 2,447
Deduct: cash and cash equivalents in the subsidiaries as at the date of disposal (2,494)
(47)

% During the year, one of the subsidiaties of the Group (Tamdeen Investment Company - ICP.S.C) purchased
the remaining shares in Tamdeen Real Estate Development Company - IX.S.C (Closed) (Group’s subsidiary)
for a purchase consideration amounting to KID6,615 thousands and increased its direct ownership
percentage in the share capital from 48% to 100%. Accordingly, the financial statements of Tamdeen Real
Estate Development Company - K.S.C (Closed) were fully and directly consolidated by Tamdeen Investment
Company - K.P.S.C. This purchase transaction resulted in an increase in the difference between the purchase
value and the net book value of the purchased shares. Net increase calculated amounted to KID2,073
thousands, which was directly included in the statement of changes in equity for the year. The non-
controlling interests totaling KID5,069 thousand were also disposed off from the balance of the non-

controlling interests of that subsidiary.
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6 Subsidiaries (continued)

6.2 Subsidiaries with material non-controlling interests
The Group includes only one subsidiary with material non-controlling interests (INCI):

Proportion of ownership :
interests and voting rights Profit allocated

held by the NCI to NCI Accumulated NCI
Year ended Year ended
31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

KD'000 KD'000 KD'000 KD'000

Tamdeen Investment Company-

KPSC* 44.06% 44.06% 6,607 6,392 147,698 151,777

Immaterial subsidiaries with non-
controlling interests - - - 10
6,607 6,392 147,698 151,787

The NCI of Manshar Real Estate Company - KSC (Closed) and Tamdeen Real Estate Development
Company — KSC (Closed) are included within Tamdeen Investment Company’s NCI

6.3 Summarised financial information for Tamdeen Investment Company - KPSC, after intra-
Group eliminations, is set out below:

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2023 2022

KD'000 KD'000
Non-current assets 338,893 316,834
Current assets 18,351 40,551
Total assets 357,244 357,385
Non-current liabilities (387) (497)
Current liabilities (21,348) (25,746)
Total liabilities (21,735) (26,243)
Equity attributable to the shareholders of the Parent Company 181,680 179,278

Non-controlling interests (including non-controlling interests in the
subsidiary’s statement of financial position) 153,829 151,864
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6 Subsidiaries (continued)
6.3 Summarised financial information for Tamdeen Investment Company - KPSC, after intra-

Group eliminations, is set out below: (continued)

Year ended Year ended
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2023 2022
KD'000 KD'000
Revenue 19,234 18,542
Profit for the year attributable to the shareholders of the Parent Company 8,683 7,180
Profit for the year attributable to NCI 6,607 6,392
Profit for the year 15,290 13,572
Other comprehensive (loss)/ income for the year attributable to the shareholders
of the Parent Company (3,740) 20,733
Other comprehensive (loss)/ income for the year attributable to NCI (2,946) 16,332
Total other comprehensive (loss)/ income for the year (6,686) 37,065
Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to the shareholders of the
Parent Company 4,944 27,913
Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to NCI 3,660 22,724
Total comprehensive income for the year 8,604 50,637
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests 1,771 1,502
Net cash flows (used in)/ from operating activities (2,885) 347
Net cash flows from investing activities 12,158 78,911
Net cash flows used in financing activities (18,656) (77,056)
Net change in cash flow (9,383) 2,202
7 Cost of revenue
Year ended Year ended
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2023 2022
KD'000 KD'000
Direct staff costs 2,091 2,044
Other real estate expenses 4,390 4,255

6,481 6,299
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8 Provisions for contribution to KFAS, Zakat and NLST

The provision for contribution to Kuwait Foundation for Advancement of Sciences (KFAS), provision for
Zakat and provision for National Labour Support Tax (NLST) of the Parent Company and subsidiaries are as
follows:

Year ended 31 December 2023 Year ended 31 December 2022
Parent Parent
Company Subsidiaries Total Company Subsidiaries Total
KD'000 KD'000 KD'000 KD'000 KD'000 KD'000
Provision for contribution to
KFAS - 81 81 - 107 107
Provision for Zakat 27 145 172 - 227 227
Provision for NLST 253 271 524 219 339 558
280 497 777 219 673 892
9 Share of results from associates
Year ended Year ended
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2023 2022
KD'000 KD'000
Tamdeen Shopping Centres Company — KSC (Closed) (16-i) 5,947 5911
Kuwait National Cinema Company — KPSC (16-ii) 5,139 3,691
Tamdeen Pearl Real Estate Company — KSC (Closed) (16-iii) 47 98
Other associates (16-a) 369 346
11,502 10,046

10 Basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to owners of the

Parent Company
Basic and diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit for the year attributable to the owners
of the Parent Company by the weighted average number of the outstanding shares during the year excluding
the treasury shares as follows:

Year ended Year ended
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2023 2022
Profit for the year attributable to the owners of the Parent Company (KD'000) 15,708 15,046
Weighted average number of the outstanding shares (excluding treasury
shares) (One thousand shares) 401,498 401,531

Basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to owners of the Parent
Company 39.1 Fils 37.5Fils
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11 Accounts receivable and other debit balances

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2023 2022

KD'000 KD'000
Trade receivables 1,230 898
Due from related parties (Note 26) 186 190
Due from sale of trading properties (a) 721 2,325
Due from sale of real estate plots (b) 1,699 1,949
Advance payments to contractors 1,313 576
Prepaid expenses 223 639
Accrued income 82 73
Other debit balances 842 1,178
6,296 7,828
Provision for estimated credit losses (ECL) (c) (814) (583)
5,482 7,245

a) The balances due from sale of trading properties are mainly represented by the amounts due from the sale
transaction made by the parent company for investment residential towers units in Tamdeen Square project

(Tower B&C) (located in Sabah Al- Salem area) (See Note 14).

b) The amount due from sale of real estate plots are mainly represented by the amounts due from the sale
transaction that has been previously petformed by a subsidiary for some of its real estate plots which have
been invested in for trading purposes. During the year, the Company collected an amount of KD 250,000.
The Group’s management considers the credit risk for these amounts as low as the counterparties are
reputable with no history of default and confirms that the amounts due are fully collectible from the

concerned parties, and that the balances are guaranteed by a related party.

¢) The Group has determined that ECL allowance is KID814 thousand (31 December 2022: KID583

thousand).

The movement in the ECL allowance 1s as follows:

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2023 2022
KD'000 KD'000
Balance as at 1 January 583 432
ECL allowance charged during the year 231 151
Balance at end of the year 814 583
12 Investments at FVTOCI
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2023 2022
KD'000 KD'000
Local managed portfolios 114 98
Participations in local companies shares 164,828 181,476
Participations in capital of companies located outside Kuwait 578 581
165,520 182,155
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12 Investments at FVTOCI (continued)

a) Investments with a fair value totaling KID28,555 thousand (31 December 2022: KID37,098 thousand)
are mortgaged against term loans (Note 18).

b) Total accumulated profits (as a result of disposal) included in the cumulative changes in fair value,
amounted to KID114,301 thousand (31 December 2022: KID114,087 thousand).

) During the year, the subsidiary sold a patt of the investments classified as at fair value through other
comprehensive income. The fair value of the shares sold as of the date of disposal amounted to KD
9,886 thousand. The relevant accumulated profits amounted to KD 218 thousand, which are held

under the Group’s fair value reserve.

Refer note 29.3 for further details relating to the fair value of the above investments.

13 Investment property under development

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2023 2022

KD'000 KD'000
Balance at beginning of the year 21,000 18,378
Additions during the year 2,563 1,439
Change in fair value during the year 2,555 1,183
Transferred to investment properties - Tamdeen Square Tower A (Note 15) (26,118) -
Balance at end of the year - 21,000

(@) The additions to investment propetty under development represent the construction and development
cost incurred during the year.

The fair value of investment property under development has been determined based on a valuation

made by two independent valuers who do not have any relation to the Group. Fair value has been

determined based on income capitalization approach.

14 Trading properties

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2023 2022
KD'000 KD'000
Balance at beginning of the year 18,914 29,055
Disposals due to sale (a) (8,201) (10,141)
Balance at end of the year 10,713 18,914

a) During the current year, some of residential towers units in Tamdeen Square project (Tower B&C).
(located in Sabah Al- Salem area) were sold. The sale of these units resulted in a profit of KID 646 thousand
(2022: KD 449 thousand) which was recognized in the consolidated statement of profit and loss.
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15 Investment properties

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2023 2022
KD'000 KD'000
Balance at beginning of the year 163,010 162,246
Transferred from investment property under development (Note 13) 26,118 -
Change in fair value during the year (2,487) 764
Balance at end of the year 186,641 163,010

The fair value of investment properties as at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022 was determined based
on valuations obtained from two independent valuers.

Investment properties are represented by the carrying values of:
1. Al-Kout Mall and Hyatt Regency Hotel Al-Kout Mall (collectively refetred to as “Al-Kout Complex”) of
KD 162,600 thousand (31 December 2022: KD 162,250 thousand)

2. Souq Al-Kout of KD 320 thousand as at 31 December 2023 (31 December 2022: KD760 thousand) which
is subject to a B.O.T contract with the Government of Kuwait where the contract terms end in 2024 (Refer
Note 32).

3. Tamdeen Square Tower A of KID23,721 thousand (31 December 2022: KD 21,000 thousand previously
classified as an investment property under development at that time).

The estimation of fair value by independent real estate valuers has resulted in a change in fair value as a loss of
KD2,487 thousand (31 December 2022: profit of KD 764 thousand) being recognized in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss (refer Note 29.4).

Investment properties with a catrying value of KID186,321 thousand as at 31 December 2023 (31 December
2022: KID162,250 thousand) are fully mortgaged against term loans (Note 18).

16 Investments in associates
This comprises the investments of the Group in the following associates:

31 December 2023 31 Dec. 2022
Ownership % Ownership %
Place of
Company’s name incorporation Direct Indirect* Amount Direct Indirect* Amount
KD’000 KD’000
Tamdeen Shopping Centres
Company — KSC (Closed) (16-i) Kuwait 30 2 60,404 30 2 56,057
Kuwait National Cinema (16-ii)
Company — KPSC Kuwait - 48 63,517 - 48 61,182
Tamdeen Pearl Real Estate
Company — KSC (Closed) (16-ii)  Kuwait : 31 27,696 - 31 27,649
Other associates (16-a/b) ** Kuwait - - 6,391 - - 5,799
158,008 150,687

* Indirect holding through the subsidiary [Tamdeen Investment Company — KPSC].
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16 Investments in associates (continued)

(a) Summarised financial information in respect of each of the Group’s material associates, are set out in the
following notes (i,itiif). The summarised financial information in these notes represents the amounts
presented in the audited financial statements of those associates (and not the Group’s share in these
amounts) adjusted for differences in accounting policies between the Group and the associate, if any.

(i) Tamdeen Shopping Centres Company — KSC (Closed) (unquoted)

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2023 2022
KD’000 KD’000
Non-current assets 441,094 429,865
Current assets 83,574 75,444
Non-current liabilities (228,253) (232,345)
Current liabilities (95,026) (85,115)
Non-controlling interest (6,654) (6,553)
Equity attributable to the shareholders of the associate 194,735 181,296
Year ended Year ended
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2023 2022
KD’000 KD’'000
Revenue 52,423 42,525
Profit for the year attributable to the associate’s shareholders 18,387 18,280
Other comprehensive income/ (loss) for the year 1,052 (375)
Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to the associate’s
shareholders 19,439 17,905
Group’s share in results of the associate 5,947 5,911

A reconciliation of the above summatised financial information to the carrying value of the investment in
Tamdeen Shopping Centres Company — KSC (Closed) is set out below:

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2023 2022
KD’000 KD’000
Net assets of the associate attributable to the shareholders of the associate 194,735 181,296
Group'’s share in the associate 32.34% 32.34%
Other adjustments (2,577) (2,577)
Carrying value of the investment 60,404 56,057
(i) Kuwait National Cinema Company — KPSC (quoted)
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2023 2022
KD’000 KD’000
Non-current assets 202,666 179,159
Current assets 38,379 26,390
Non-current liabilities (96,316) (81,159)
Current liabilities (46,070) (30,558)

(15) (14)
93,818

Non-controlling interests

Equity attributable to the shareholders of the associate 98,644
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16 Investments in associates (continued)

(ii) Kuwait National Cinema Company ~ KPSC (quoted)

Revenue

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive loss for the year

Total comprehensive income for the year

Dividends received from the associate during the year
Group’s share in results of the associate

Year ended
31 Dec.
2023
KD’000

29,700
10,625

(3,853)

6,771
2,688
5,139

Year ended

31 Dec.
2022
KD'000

23,528
7,630
(1,673)
5,957
1,344
3,691

A reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the carrying value of the investment in

Kuwait National Cinema Company — KPSC is set out below:

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2023 2022
KD’000 KD’000
Net assets of the associate attributable to the shareholders of the associate 98,644 93,818
Group’s share in the associate 48.4% 48.4%
Goodwill 15,748 15,748
Carrying value of the investment 63,517 61,182

The investment in this associate is partially secured against term loans (Note 18) with a carrying value of

KD17,777 thousand (31 December 2022: KID 35,758 thousand).

(iliy  Tamdeen Pearl Real Estate Company — KSC (Closed) (unquoted)

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2023 2022
KD'000 KD'000
Total assets 232,695 183,916
Total liabilities (137,111) (93,771)
Non-controlling interests (5,487) (201)
Equity attributable to the shareholders of the associate 90,097 89,944
Year ended Year ended
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2023 2022
KD'000 KD'000
Revenue 3,540 388
Profit for the year 150 312
Total comprehensive income for the year 150 312
47 98

Group’s share in results of the associate
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16 Investments in associates (continued)

(iii) Tamdeen Pearl Real Estate Company — KSC (Closed) (unquoted)
A reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the carrying value of the investment in
Tamdeen Pearl Real Estate Company — KSC (Closed) is set out below:

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2023 2022
KD'000 KD'000
Net assets of the associate attributable to the shareholders of the associate 90,097 89,944
Group share in the associate 30.74% 30.74%
Carrying value of the investment 27,696 27,649

All the associates of the Group ate not listed in active markets except for Kuwait National Cinema Company
— KPSC and the fair value of the Group’s investments in this associate amounted to IKID53,631 thousand as at
31 December 2023 (31 December 2022: KD 42,565 thousand). The Group's management emphasizes that the
mnvestment amount in Kuwait National Cinema Company does not have a permanent decline in value based
on an estimate of its recoverable value, which is estimated using the value in-use method (refer note 5.2.3).

(a) Aggregate information of the associates that are not individually material to the Group:

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2023 2022
KD'000 KD'000
The Group’s share of results 369 346
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s share in these associates as of
the reporting date 6,391 5,799

(b) The Group’s share of results of other associates has been recorded based on the latest available
(audited/unaudited) financial information prepared by the managements of these associates for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

17  Due to banks

Due to banks represent the balances of the overdraft facilities and the Murabaha working capital facility which
ate granted to the Group by local banks to finance the working capital and the real estate activities. They are
repayable on demand and carries interest rate at 1% (2022: 1%) per annum above the CBK discount rate.

18 Term loans

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2023 2022
KD'000 KD'000
Term loans (a) 146,459 171,245

Average interest rate range (above the CBK discount rate) 0.75%-1% 0.75% - 1.25%
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18 Term loans (continued)

a) Term loans of KID67,500 thousand (31 December 2022: KID72,000 thousand) ate contractually due
after more than one year. The remaining term loans of KID78,959 thousand (31 December 2022:
KID99,245 thousand) are maturing within one year and renewed petiodically.

b) The loans granted to the subsidiaties totalling to KID71,500 thousand (31 December 2022: KID89,540
thousand) are against the mortgage of investments in shares with a fair value of KD 28,555 thousand
(31 December 2022: KID37,098 thousand) (Note 12), a mortgage of investments in associates by an
amount of KD17,777 thousand (31 December 2022: KID35,758 thousand) (Note 16) and a mortgage of
investment properties of KID186,321 thousand (31 December 2022: KD162,250 thousand) (Note 15)
and (31 December 2022: KD 11,321 thousand) mottgage of an investment property under development

(Note 13).

19 Accounts payable and other credit balances

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2023 2022

KD'000 KD'000
Retentions against executed works 4,354 6,210
Rental received in advance 600 701
Accrued interest, leave and other expenses 4,540 3,625
Lease liability 1,240 1,125
Due to related parties (Note 26) 35 250
Dividends payable to shareholders 322 328
Advance payments received from customers 239 1,763
Accrued construction costs 562 AT
Payable on acquisition of intangible assets 2,595 3,471
Provisions and other credit balances 7,400 9,072
21,887 27,662

20 Share capital

As at 31 December 2023, the authorized, issued and fully paid share capital in cash of the Parent Company is
comprised of 431,933 thousand shares of 100 fils each (31 December 2022: 431,933 thousand shares of 100
fils each). The share premium is not available for distribution.

21 Treasury shares

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2023 2022
Number of shares - share 30,435,250 30,435,250
Percentage of issued shares 7.04% 7.04%
Market value (KD'000) 10,774 11,109
Cost (KD'000) 11,981 11,981

Resetves of the Parent Company equivalent to the cost of treasury shares have been earmarked as non-

distributable.

22 Reserves

In accordance with the Companies Law, 10% of the profit attributable to the owners of the Parent Company
before provision for contribution to KFAS, provision for Zakat, provision for NLST and board of directors’
remuneration is transferred each year to the statutory reserve until such time that the balance of the statutory

tesetve account equals 50% of the balance of the paid-up share capital.
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22 Reserves (continued)

Distribution of the statutory reserve is limited to the amount required to enable the payment of dividends of
5% of paid-up share capital to be made in years when retained earnings are insufficient for the payment of
dividends of that amount.

10% of the profit attributable to the owners of the Parent Company before provision for contribution to KFAS,
provision for Zakat, provision for NLST and board of directors’ remuneration is also transferred to the
voluntary reserve, and this transfer could be ceased based on the decision of the Parent Company’s board of
directors. Transfers to the voluntary reserve are made in accordance with the recommendation of the Parent
Company’s board of directors to the general assembly.

No transfer is required in a year in which the Parent Company has incurred a loss or when cumulative losses
exist.

The amounts transferred during the yeat to the statutory and voluntary reserves attributable to the Parent
Company have been calculated as follows:

Year ended Year ended
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2023 2022
KD'000 KD'000
Profit for the year 22,315 21,438
Less:
Profit attributable to non-controlling interests (6,607) (6,392)
Profit attributable to owners of the Parent Company 15,708 15,046
Add:
Board of directors’ remuneration of the Parent Company 35 35
Provision for Zakat (Note 8) 27 -
Provision for NLST of the Parent Company (Note 8) 253 219
Provision for KFAS - -
Profit attributable to owners of the Parent Company before provision for
contribution to KFAS, provision for Zakat, provision for NLST and board of
directors’ remuneration 16,023 15,300
Transferred to the statutory reserve (10%) 1,602 1,530
Transferred to voluntary reserve (10%) 1,602 1,530

23 Annual general assembly of shareholders and proposed dividends and

remunerations
The Parent Company’s board of ditectors proposed to distribute cash dividends to the shareholders for the
year ended 31 December 2023 at 18% or equivalent to 18 fils per share of the paid-up share capital. It also
proposed to pay the boatd of directors’ remuneration of KD 35 thousand. These proposals are subject to
approval of the general assembly of sharcholders.

The general assembly of shareholders, held on 17 April 2023, approved the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2022 and the board of directors’ proposal to distribute cash dividends to
shareholders at 12%, or the equivalent to 12 fils pet share, of the paid-up share capital for the year ended 31
December 2022. Furthermore, it approved the board of directors’ remuneration of KD 35 thousand (the
general assembly of shareholders held on 12 April 2022 approved the consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2021 and the board of directors’ proposal to distribute cash dividends to shareholders
at 10%, or the equivalent of 10 fils per share of the paid-up share capital for the year ended 31 December 2021,
and the boatd of directors’ remuneration of KID 60 thousand).
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24 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents included in the consolidated statement of cash flows comprise of the following
balances of the consolidated statement of financial position:

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2023 2022
KD'000 KD'000
Cash on hand, bank balances and portfolios 7,428 9,738
Term deposits 20,010 26,194
27,438 35,932
Short-term deposits with contractual maturity exceed 3 months and less than 1
year (75) (75)
Cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of consolidated statement of cash
flows 27,363 35,857

Short-term deposits eatn interest at average annual rate ranging from 2.64% to 5.45% (2022: annual rate ranging
from 1.25% to 4.85%).

25 Segmental analysis

The Group activities are concentrated in two main segments: Real Estate and Investment. The segments’ results
are reported to the top management in the Group. The activities of the Group are principally carried out within
the State of Kuwait; With the exception of participations in capital of companies located outside Kuwait (Note
12), all of the assets and liabilities ate located inside Kuwait.

The following is the segments information, which conforms with the internal reporting presented to

management:
Real estate Investment Total
KD'000 KD'000 KD'000
Year ended 31 December 2023
Gross income 24,883 21,807 46,690
Profit for the year 4,450 17,865 22,315
Total assets 187,711 374,881 562,592
Total liabilities (163,141) (21,734) (184,875)
Total equity 24,570 353,147 377,717
Year ended at 31 December 2022
Gross income 26,510 18,350 44,860
Profit for the year 8,056 13,382 21,438
Total assets 219,729 369,693 589,422
Total liabilities (187,675) (26,245) (213,920)

Total equity 32,054 343,448 375,502
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26 Related party transactions

Related parties represent subsidiaries, associates, major shareholders, directors and key management personnel of
the Group, and entities controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by such parties. Pricing policies
and terms of these transactions are approved by the Group’s management. Transactions between the Parent
Company and its subsidiaries which are related parties of the Parent Company have been eliminated on

consolidation and are not disclosed in this note.

Details of significant related party transactions and balances are as follows:

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2023 2022
KD'000 KD'000
Consolidated statement of financial position
Accounts receivable and other debit balances (Note 11) 186 190
Accounts payable and other credit balances (Note 19) 35 250
Year ended Year ended
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2023 2022
KD'000 KD'000
Consolidated statement of profit or loss
Operating revenue 724 786
Income from management and consultancy fees 984 874
Cost of revenue 1,978 2,020
General, administrative and other expenses 1,289 1,384
Impairment loss in value of debtors - 600
Gain on sale of subsidiaries (Note 6.1) 860 =
Benefits of the group’s key management
Salaries, incentives and short-term benefits for the key management and the
Board of Directors remuneration 1,012 956
Purchase of an additional interest in a subsidiary (Note 6.1) 6,615 =
Proceeds from sale and liquidation of subsidiaries 2,460 -
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2023 2022
KD'000 KD'000
Contra accounts — off consolidated statement of financial position items
Net book value of customers’ portfolios (major shareholders) managed by
Tamdeen Investment Company — KPSC (subsidiary) (Note 28) 148,741 181,499
27 Capital commitments and contingent liabilities
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2023 2022
KD’000 KD’000
Capital commitments - 584
Contingent liabilities 2,638 3,177

28 Contra accounts - off consolidated statement of financial position

items

One of the subsidiaries [I'amdeen Investment Company — KPSC] manages investment portfolios for third
parties which had a net book value of KD 188,861 thousand as at 31 December 2023 (31 December 2022:
KD222,106 thousand) including 148,741 thousand (31 December 2022: KD181,499 thousand) related to
portfolios for related parties (Note 26n). These balances are not included in the consolidated statement of
financial position.
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29 Summary of financial assets and liabilities by category and fair value
measurement

29.1  Categories of financial assets and liabilities
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities as stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position may also be categorized as follows:

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2023 2022
KD’000 KD’000
Financial assets
Financial assets at amortised cost:
- Accounts receivable and other debit balances (excluding advance payments to
contractors and prepaid expenses) 3,946 6,030
- Cash and bank balances 27,438 35,932
Financial assets at fair value:
- Investments at fair value through other comprehensive income 165,520 182,155
Total financial assets 196,904 224,117
Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities at amortised cost:
- Due to banks 6,990 5,357
- Term loans 146,459 171,245
- Accounts payable and other credit balances 21,887 27,662
- Refundable rentai deposits 7,551 7,778
Total financial liabilities 182,887 212,042

29.2 Fair value measurement

Fair value represents the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. Investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income are carried at fair value and measurement details are disclosed in note 29.3 to the
consolidated financial statements. In the opinion of the Group’s management, the carrying amounts of all other
financial assets and liabilities which are at amottised costs is considered a reasonable approximation of their
fair values. The Group also measures non-financial assets such as investment properties at fair value at each
annual reporting date (note 15 and 29.4).

29.3  Fair value hierarchy

All financial assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the consolidated financial
statements are grouped into three Levels of a fair value hierarchy. The three Levels are defined based on the
obsetvability of significant inputs to the measurement, as follows:

— Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
- Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,

either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and
- Level 3: inputs for the asset and liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable

inputs).

The level within which the asset or liability is classified is determined based on the lowest level of significant
input to the fair value measurement.

The financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis in the statement of consolidated
financial position are grouped into the fair value hierarchy as follows:
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29 Summary of financial assets and liabilities by category and fair value
measurement (continued)

29.3  Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Note Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
KD’000 KD’000 KD’000 KD’000
Financial assets at fair value at 31
December 2023

Investments at FVTOCI
- Local managed portfolios
¢ Quoted shares a 114 - 114
- Participations in local companies shares
¢ Quoted shares a 164,585 - 164,585
¢ Unquoted shares b - 243 243
- Participations in capital of companies

located outside Kuwait
e Unquoted shares b - 578 578

164,699 821 165,520
Financial assets at fair value at 31
December 2022

Investments at FVTOCI
- Local managed portfolios
e  Quoted shares a 98 - 98
- Participations in local companies shares
¢  Quoted shares a 181,240 - 181,240
o Unquoted shares b - 236 236
- Participations in capital of companies

located outside Kuwait
¢ Unquoted shares b - 581 581

181,338 817 182,155

Thete have been no significant transfers between levels 2 during the reporting period.

Measutrement at fair value

The Group’s finance team petrforms valuations of financial items for financial reporting purposes, including
Level 3 fair values, in consultation with third party valuation specialists for complex valuations, where required.
Valuation techniques are selected based on the characteristics of each instrument, with the overall objective of

maximizing the use of market-based information.

The methods and valuation techniques used for the purpose of measuring fair value are unchanged compared

to the previous reporting period.

a) Quoted shares (level 1)

The quoted shares present all listed shares that are traded in the financial markets. The fair values are determined

by reference to the latest bid prices at the reporting date.
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29 Summary of financial assets and liabilities by category and fair value
measurement (continued)

29.3  Fair value hierarchy (continued)

b) Unquoted shares (level 3)

The fair value of unquoted shares is determined by using valuation techniques. Fair value for the unquoted
shares investments are approximately total estimated value of underlying investments as if realised on the date
of the consolidated statement of financial position. The investment managers in determining the fair value of
these investments use a variety of methods and makes assumptions that ate based on market conditions existing
at each consolidated financial position date. Investment managers also used techniques such as discounted cash

flow analysis, recent transactions prices and market multiples to determine fair value.

With regard to certain other unquoted shares, information is limited to petiodic financial reports submitted by
the managers of the investment. These investments are stated at net assets value reported by the managers of
the investment. Due to the nature of these investments, net assets value reported by the managers of the
investment represents the best estimation of available fair values for these investments.

Level 3 - fair value measurements
Reconciliation of level 3 fair value measurements is as follows:

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2023 2022
KD’000 KD’000
Balance as at 1 January 817 1,729
Change in fair value during the year 4 912)
Balance as at 31 December 821 817

The level 3 investments have been fair valued as follows:

Relationship of
Valuation techniques and  Significant unobservable  unobservable input to fair

Financial assets key input input value
Discount rates and book The higher discount rates
Market comparison and value adjusted with market and the market risk the
Unquoted shares adjusted book value risk lower the fair value

Changing inputs to the level 3 valuations to reasonably possible alternative assumptions would not change
significantly amounts recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive

income, total assets, total liabilities ot total equity.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

29 Summary of financial assets and liabilities by category and fair value
measurement (continued)

294 Fair value measurement of non-financial assets
The following table shows the Levels within the hierarchy of non-financial assets measured at fait value on a
recurring basis at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
KD’000 KD’000 KD’000 KD’000
31 December 2023
Investment properties:
- Al-Kout Mall and Hyatt Regency Hotel
Al-Kout Mall (Al-Kout Complex) - - 162,600 162,600
- Souq Al-Kout - - 320 320
- Tamdeen Square Tower A - - 23,721 23,721
- - 186,641 186,641
31 December 2022
Investment properties:
- Al-Kout Mall and Hyatt Regency Hotel
Al-Kout Mall (Al-Kout Complex) - - 162,250 162,250
- Souq Al-Kout - - 760 760
Investment property under
development:
- Tamdeen Square Tower A - - 21,000 21,000
- - 184,010 184,010

The fair value of the investment properties has been determined, based on the lower of two valuations obtained
from two independent valuers (one of the valuets is a bank located in I{uwait), who are specialized in valuing
this type of investment properties. The two valuers have valued the investment properties using multiple
methods such as the yield method and others; being a combination of the market comparison approach for the
land and cost approach minus depreciation for buildings. They also used other methods such as discounted
cashflows and the market compatison approach in atriving at the fair value. When the market comparison
approach is used, adjustments have been incorporated for factors specific to the properties in question,
including property size, location, economic condition, similar property prices in surrounding area and permitted
activities on the property.

Level 3 - fair value measurements
The measurement of the nonfinancial assets classified in level 3 uses valuation techniques inputs that are not
based on observable market data. The assets within this level can be reconciled from beginning to ending

balances as follows:

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2023 2022
KD’000 KD’'000
Opening balance 184,010 180,624
Additions during the year 2,563 1,439
Changes in fair value 68 1,947

Closing balance 186,641 184,010
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

30 Risk management objectives and policies
The Group’s activities expose it to variety of financial risks: market risk (including foreign currency risk, interest
rate risk, and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

The Parent Company’s board of directors are ultimately responsible for the overall risk management and for
approving risk strategies and principles. The Group’s risk management is carried out by investment
management and audit committee and focuses on actively securing the Group’s short to medium term cash
flows by minimizing the potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance through internal risk
reports. Long term financial investments ate managed to generate lasting returns.

The Group does not enter into or trade financial instruments, including derivative financial instruments, for

speculative purposes.
The most significant financial risks to which the Group is exposed to are as follows:

30.1 Market risk

a) Foreign currency risk
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair values or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate

due to changes in foreign exchange rates.

The Group mainly operates in the Kuwait, GCC, other Middle Eastern countries, and Europe is exposed to
foreign cutrrency risk arising from various foreign currency exposures, primarily with respect to US Dollar.
Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions, recognised assets and liabilities and net
investments in foreign operations.

To mitigate the Group’s exposure to foreign cutrency risk, management monitors a balances of assets and
liabilities exposed to the foreign cutrency risk to minimize fluctuations and enter into forward foreign exchange
contracts, if needed, in accordance with the Group’s tisks management policies. Generally, the Group’s risk
management procedures distinguish short-term foreign currency cash flows (due within twelve months) from
long-term cash flows. Whete the amounts to be paid and received in specific currency are expected to largely
offset one another, no further hedging activity is undertaken. Forward foreign exchange contracts may be
entered into for significant long-term foreign currency exposutes that are not expected to be offset by other

foreign currency transactions.

The Group had the following significant exposures denominated in foreign currencies, translated into Kuwaiti
Dinar at the closing rate:

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2023 2022
KD'000 KD'000
US Dollar 16,038 19,322

If the Kuwaiti Dinar had strengthened/weakened against the foreign currencies by 5%, then this would have
direct impact on the equity by an amount of nil (31 December 2022: KD nil thousand).

Exposures to foreign exchange rates vary during the year depending on the volume and nature of the
transactions. Nonetheless, the analysis above represents the Group’s exposure to the foreign currency risk.
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30 Risk management objectives and policies (continued)
301  Market risk (continued)

b) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect future profitability or the
fair values of financial instruments. The Group is exposed to interest rate risk with respect to its short term
deposits, and its borrowings (term loans and due to banks) . The botrowings mainly represent short- and long-
term borrowings and bear fixed or variable interest rates. The management has established levels of interest
rate risk by setting limits on the interest rate gaps for stipulated periods.

Positions are monitored on a regular basis and hedging strategies maybe used to ensure positions are maintained
within established limits.

The following table illustrates the sensitivity of the profit for the yeat to a reasonably possible change in interest
rates of +0.5% and — 0.5% (31 December 2022: +0.5 % and — 0.5%) retrospectively from the beginning of the
year. These changes are considered to be reasonably possible based on observation of curtent matket condition.
The calculations are based on the Group’s financial instruments exposed to interest rate risk held at the date of
the consolidated statement of financial position. All other variables are held constant. Thete has been no change
during this year in the methods and assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity analysis.

Year ended 31 Dec. 2023 Year ended 31 Dec. 2022
+0.5% -0.5% +0.5% -05%
KD'000 KD'000 KD'000 KD'000
Effect on profit for the year (552) 552 (621) 621

c) Price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk with respect to its equity investments. Equity investments are
classified either as investments at fair value through profit or loss (including trading securities) and investments
at fair value through other comprehensive income. The Group’s investments are listed on the Kuwait Stock
Exchange and other Gulf markets.

To manage its price risk arising from investments in equity securities, the Group diversifies its investment
portfolio where possible. Diversification of the portfolio is done in accordance with the limits set by the Group.

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on the exposure to equity price risks at the date of
the consolidated financial statements. There has been no change in the methods and assumptions used in the
preparation of the sensitivity analysis.

If the prices of securities had been 5% higher/lower, the effect on equity for the year ended 31 December
would have been as follows:

Equity
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2023 2022
KD'000 KD'000
Market Stock Exchange index + 5% 8,235 9,067
Market Stock Exchange index — 5% (8,235) (9,067)

30.2 Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and cause the other

patty to incur a financial loss. The Group’s credit policy and exposure to credit risk is monitored on an ongoing
basis. The Group seeks to avoid undue concentrations of risks with individuals or groups of customers in specific
locations or business through diversification of its activities. It also obtains collateral security when appropriate.



Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

30 Risk management objectives and policies (continued)

30.2  Credit risk (continued)

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is limited to the carrying amounts of financial assets recognised at the date

of the consolidated statement of financial position, as summarized below:

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2023 2022
KD'000 KD'000
Cash and bank balances 27,438 35,932
Accounts receivable and other debit balances (excluding advance payments
to contractors and prepaid expenses) 3,946 6,030
31,384 41,962

The credit risk for bank balances and deposits included within cash and cash equivalents is considered negligible

since the counterparties are reputable financial institations with high credit quality.
Credit risk details relating to accounts receivable are disclosed in Note 11.

30.3  Concentration of assets by location
The distribution of assets by geographic region was as follows:

Other middle
east
countries &

Kuwait Europe Total

KD'000 KD'000 KD'000
At 31 December 2023
Geographic region:
Cash and bank balances 13,458 13,980 27,438
Accounts receivable and other debit balances 5,482 - 5,482
Investments at FVTOCI 164,942 578 165,520
Trading properties 10,713 - 10,713
Investment properties 186,641 - 186,641
Investments in associates 158,008 - 158,008
Intangible assets 2,826 - 2,826
Other assets 5,964 - 5,964

548,034 14,558 562,592
At 31 December 2022
Geographic region:
Cash and bank balances 21,514 14,418 35,932
Accounts receivable and other debit balances 7,245 - 7,245
Investments at FVTOCI 181,574 581 182,155
Investment property under development 21,000 - 21,000
Trading properties 18,914 - 18,914
Investment properties 163,010 - 163,010
Investments in associates 150,687 - 150,687
Intangible assets 4,260 - 4,260
Other assets 6,219 _ 6,219

574,423 14,999 589,422
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

30 Risk management objectives and policies (continued)

30.4  Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will be unable to meet its liabilities when they fall due. To limit this
risk, the Group’s management has arranged diversified funding sources, manages assets with liquidity in mind,
and monitors liquidity on a regular basis.

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s assets and liabilities. Except for the investments
at fair value through other comprehensive income and investment propetties and investments in associates, the
maturities of assets and liabilities have been determined on the basis of the remaining petiod from the reporting
date to the contractual maturity date.

The maturity profile for the investments at FVTOCI, investment properties and investment in associates is
determined based on management’s estimate of liquidation of those investments.

Maturity profile of assets and Habilities are as follows:

31 December 2023 31 December 2022
Lef;;::n Over 1 year Total Le1$§et2?n Over 1 year Total
KD'000 KD'000 KD'000 KD'000 KD'000 KD'000

Assets
Cash and bank balances 27,438 - 27,438 35,932 - 35,932
Accounts receivable and

other debit balances 5,482 - 5,482 7,245 - 7,245
Investments at FVTOCI 28,555 136,965 165,520 37,098 145,057 182,155
Investment property under

development - - - - 21,000 21,000
Trading properties 10,713 - 10,713 18,914 - 18,914
Investment properties - 186,641 186,641 - 163,010 163,010
Investments in associates 17,777 140,231 158,008 35,758 114,929 150,687
Intangible assets - 2,826 2,826 - 4,260 4,260
Other assets _ 5,964 5,964 _ 6,219 6,219

89,965 472,627 562,592 134,947 454,475 589,422

Liabilities
Due to banks 6,990 - 6,990 5,357 - 5,357
Term loans 78,959 67,500 146,459 99,245 72,000 171,245
Accounts payable and other

credit balances 9,067 12,820 21,887 10,028 17,634 27,662
Refundable rental deposits - 7,551 7,551 = 7,778 7,778
Provision for employees

end of service benefits - 1,988 1,988 - 1,878 1,878

95,016 89,859 184,875 114,630 99,290 213,920




§ Finanoias
3% December 2023

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

30 Risk management objectives and policies (continued)

30.4 Liquidity risk (continued)

The contractual maturities of financial liabilities based on undiscounted cash flows are as follows:

Upto 1 1-3 3-12 Above 1
month months months year Total
KD'000 KD'000 KD'000 KD'000 KD'000
31 December 2023
Financial liabilities (undiscounted)
Due to banks 2,486 - 4,504 - 6,990
Term loans - 3,460 77,330 72,912 153,702
Accounts payable and other credit balances 238 2,057 6,772 12,820 21,887
Refundable rental deposits - - - 7,551 7,551
Provision for employees’ end of service
benefits - - - 1,988 1,988
2,724 5,517 88,606 95,271 192,118
31 December 2022
Financial liabilities (undiscounted)
Due to banks 1,565 3,792 - - 5,357
Term loans - 2,774 98,722 88,200 189,696
Accounts payable and other credit balances 129 952 4,916 21,665 27,662
Refundable rental deposits - - - 7,778 7,778
Provision for employees’ end of service
benefits - - - 1,878 1,878
1,694 7,518 103,638 119,521 232,371

31 Capital management objectives
The Group’s capital management objectives are to ensure the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern

and to provide adequate return to its shareholders through the optimization of the capital structure.

The Group manages the capital structure and makes adjustments in the light of changes in economic conditions
and risk characteristics of the underlying assets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group
may adjust the amount of dividends paid to sharecholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The capital structure of the Group consists of the following:

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2023 2022

KD'000 KD'000
Due to banks 6,990 5357
Term loans 146,459 171,245
Less: Cash and bank balances (27,438) (35,932)
Net debt 126,011 140,670
Equity attributable to owners of the Parent Company 230,019 223,716
Non-controlling interests 147,698 151,787
503,728 516,172

Total capital
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

31 Capital management objectives (continued)
The Group manages the capital structure on the basis of the gearing ratio. This gearing ratio is calculated as net
debt divided by total capital as follows:

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2023 2022
KD'000 KD'000
Net debt 126,011 140,670
Total capital 503,728 516,172
Gearing ratio 25% 27%

32 Legal cases

The main contractor (INASA Construction General Trading and Contracting Company - W.LL) for the
construction and implementation of Tamdeen Square project (located in Sabah Al-Salem area), has filed an
arbitration case in the International Court of Arbitration of the International Chamber of Commerce against
the Parent Company regarding the liquidation of the project account. The Court has decided to set the case for
adjudication on 31 May 2024 unless the Court decides to postpone this date. Thetefore, the management asserts
that it is not possible to predict the final outcome of the case and determine its financial impact at the present
time.

During 2020, an administrative appeal judgment was issued in favour of the Ministty of Finance (“MOF”) in
the case filed by the MOF requesting to increase the rental amount of the development seafront project at
Fahaheel “Al Kout Mall” obliging the Parent Company to pay an amount of KD213 thousands in exchange
for the use of the project instead of KD75 thousands starting from 1 October 2007 until 30 September 2019.
Both MOF and the Parent Company appealed by cassation against the judgement. The appeal filed by the
Company included an urgent request to suspend the sentence pending a decision is issued on the appeal. A
decision was issued by the Court of Cassation on 9 December 2020 approving the request for suspension of
sentence until the decision is made on the appeal and the appeal filed by the MOI" after they are joined together.
On 24 May 2023, the Court of Cassation adjudicated that the appeal filed by MOF is dismissed, as for the
appeal filed by the Company, it adjudicated that the judgment should be referred to the Court of Cassation and
referring the case statement to the Experts Department in order to delegate, in its turn, a tripartite committee
to carry out the assignment specified in the verdict. The case has been deliberated before the tripartite
committee. The Parent Company provided the experts with their requests and presented its defense. However,
the MOF did not attend any of the hearing sessions despite its notification. Accordingly, the Experts
Department returned the case statement to the Court as it was not possible to catry out the assigned task. The
case was scheduled for hearing session on 20 March 2024 before the Court of cassation to receive the MOF
reply. Moteover, if the judgment issued by the Coutt of Appeal uphold by the Court of Cassation, it will not
have any significant financial impact on the consolidated financial statements, as the Group has previously
provided the necessary provisions to cover the amount subject of the judgment.



